



Review of uncertainties in water security decision-making in Central Asia

Aliya Assubayeva

OSCE Academy in Bishkek June 2023

Research Paper #12

Review of uncertainties in water security decision-making in Central Asia

Aliya Assubayeva

***Dr. Aliya Assubayeva** is a Research Associate at the Center for International Development and Environmental Research (ZEU), Justus Liebig University Giessen, Germany. With an interdisciplinary background, she holds a BA in Water Resources Management from Kazakh National Agrarian University, an M.Sc. in Agricultural Economics from the Humboldt University of Berlin, and a Ph.D. in Public Policy from Nazarbayev University. Her research interests encompass water security, transboundary cooperation, water governance and policy, and sustainable development. Dr. Assubayeva has authored research articles, policy briefs, and book chapters, contributing to the academic and policy discourse on water-related issues.

Abstract

Water security has become increasingly significant in Central Asian republics due to the uncertainties and risks associated with climate change and growing water demand. This importance is amplified by the complex transboundary river basins, interconnected water-energy infrastructure in the Aral Sea basin, rising water distribution disputes among riparian countries, and the vulnerability of water resources to climate change. Effective decision-making at all levels regarding water resource allocation and management is assumed to contribute to achieving water security. This research paper focuses on exploring the sources of endogenous uncertainty in managing water resources with case studies of Kazakhstan and the Kyrgyz Republic. The study adopts qualitative methods, specifically content and narrative analysis, to gather and analyze data from two interview phases (involving decision-makers at national and local levels and university representatives), academic literature, and policy reports. The research emphasizes endogenous uncertainties arising from the decision-making system and identifies key factors to mitigate them, including improved data availability and analysis, resilient infrastructure, and enhanced capacity. The study acknowledges the potential rise in exogenous uncertainties caused by limited transboundary cooperation, climate change impacts, and growing water needs. It highlights the significance of recognizing and comprehending the nature and effects of uncertainties. By doing so, Central Asian countries can make more informed decisions and work towards achieving sustainable and resilient water security in the region.

Keywords: water security, endogenous uncertainties, decision-making, resilience, Central Asia

Extracts of this paper may be quoted or reprinted without special permission for academic purposes, provided that a standard source credit line is included

^{© 2023} OSCE Academy in Bishkek. All rights reserved.

The publication was prepared with financial support from the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs and in cooperation with the Norwegian Institute of International Affairs (NUPI)

The views expressed and the conclusions reached in this paper are exclusively those of the author and are not necessarily shared or endorsed by the OSCE Academy in Bishkek, the Norwegian Institute of International Affairs, or the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Table of Contents

Introduction4
Literature review
Methods
Results and Discussion9
Prioritization of water needs among different users9
Challenges in data availability and access 9
Outdated water infrastructure10
Weak decision-making capacity11
Mismatch of supply and demand of water specialists11
Enhancing regional capacities: examples of initiatives12
Conclusions13
Acknowledgments
References14

Introduction

The significance of water security has increased due to the uncertainties and risks associated with climate change and growing water demand (Beek & Arriens, 2014; IPCC, 2022; UN Security, 2007). Strengthening water security contributes to achieving sustainable development goals (Albrecht & Gerlak, 2022; AWDO, 2020; Taka et al., 2021). The United Nations defines water security as the "... capacity of a population to safeguard sustainable access to adequate quantities of acceptable quality water for sustaining livelihoods, human well-being, and socio-economic development, for ensuring protection against water-borne pollution and water-related disasters, and for preserving ecosystems in a climate of peace and political stability ... " (UN ESCAP, 2013, p.vi). Researchers and policymakers underline the nexus of socio-economic-environmental systems and emphasize that water security encompasses multiple dimensions beyond just water availability (AWDO, 2016; Cook & Bakker, 2012; Octavianti, 2020). Various water security assessment frameworks and indices have been proposed to operationalize the concept at different scales and under different disciplinary perspectives (AWDO, 2013, 2016, 2020; OECD, 2013; Octavianti & Staddon, 2021). Yet, the interpretation of water security varies from region to region, particularly between areas with abundant water resources and those facing water scarcity. Hence, water security strategies need to be tailored to the local context, particularly given the increasing scale and intensity of water challenges and disasters which require robust decision-making in water security.

Water security has always been important for the Central Asian (CA) republics (including Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan), which share complex transboundary river basins because of interconnected water-energy infrastructure in the Aral Sea basin, water distribution disputes among riparian countries, and the vulnerability of their water resources to climate change (Abdolvand et al., 2015; Abdullaev et al., 2019; Gerlitz et al., 2020). Water security has been ensured in the CA region via water distribution practices among the republics established by largescale water engineering infrastructure from the Soviet era. During this period, hydropower reservoirs in water-abundant upstream republics operated to release water during the vegetation periods for downstream riparian republics in exchange for cheap fossil fuels in winter. This former water-energy trade system collapsed after the breakup of the Soviet Union. Hence, water security challenges have escalated since the 1990s because of regional fragmentation and national water interests, with waterrich upstream countries interested in expanding hydropower electricity generation and energy-rich downstream countries needing water for irrigated agriculture in arid areas. This has caused water allocation disputes in the basins of the Syr Darya and Amu Darya rivers. In addition to limited transboundary cooperation on the regional level, countries face water challenges on national and local levels, such as inefficient water distribution and mismanagement of water resources, that might escalate water insecurity issues in the region (Abdullaev et al., 2019; Wegerich et al., 2015; Xenarious et al., 2020).

Scholarly research has thus far addressed water security framing and prioritization in CA countries (Abdolvand et al., 2015; Assubayeva et al., 2022; Stucki & Sojamo, 2012; Wegerich et al., 2015; Xenarious et al., 2020). Analysis of the water–energy–security nexus in CA has revealed that the primary challenges in the region are related to politics, governance, economic structure, and the broader global political economic context, along with associated uncertainties, rather than strictly to resource scarcity (Stucki & Sojamo, 2012, p.413). Abdolvand et al. (2015) discuss potential threats to water security in the region and highlight population growth, geopolitical interests, conflicting strategies

among riparian countries in agriculture and hydropower developments, and limited capacities in effective water management policies. Wegerich et al. (2015) investigated the significance of water supply in enhancing water security, specifically improving existing water supply bureaucracies. Xenarios et al. (2020) conducted a bibliometric review of the literature on water security, revealing a predominant emphasis on environmental aspects, particularly driven by uncertainties associated with the effects of climate change on glacier melt, water availability, variability in transboundary rivers, and human-induced environmental degradation. A Delphi survey conducted among regional experts suggests that water professionals emphasized the need to improve of water infrastructure to strengthen water security by increasing water use efficiency in agricultural irrigation, which is the main driver of water consumption in the region (Assubayeva et al., 2022).

Since water security can be perceived and framed differently, the main assumption of this paper is that effective decision-making about water resource allocation and management at all levels could contribute to achieving water security. Water security is often interpreted as a water scarcity or water supply problem linked with external threats such as reliance on transboundary rivers, water pollution, and the impacts of climate change. Yet, strengthening water security within is greatly influenced by decisions on water allocation, which are often underestimated (Albrecht & Gerlak, 2022; Briscoe, 2009; Octavianti, 2020). It is particularly important to identify the sources of uncertainties in water resources management and acknowledge these uncertainties for adaptive water resources decision-making (Ajami et al., 2008; Enfani et al., 2020; Warmink et al., 2010).

This study attempts to uncover the sources of uncertainty in water resources management and explore factors affecting decision-making on water allocation in CA using case studies from Kazakhstan and the Kyrgyz Republic as examples of upstream and downstream riparian countries in the CA region. Even though these two riparian countries differ in economic, political, and social development, they provide insights into distinct contexts with a commonly shared history in water resources management. However, it is important to note that this paper does not address transboundary cooperation between the two countries and the decision-making process regarding transboundary issues among countries. This study contributes to the literature by exploring the sources of uncertainties and effects of these on national decision-making processes for water allocation, which has received limited attention in previous studies. The subsequent section of the paper discusses a literature review on uncertainties in decision-making for water resources management, followed by a description of the research design employed in this study. The Results and Discussion section presents research findings on prioritizing water needs and sources of endogenous uncertainties in water management. The final part concludes by summarizing the key points and suggesting potential areas for future research.

Literature review

Decision-making in water resources management is a complex process which takes into consideration various factors, multiple and competing stakeholders, and objectives. Historically, water resources management was based on technical solutions with an "optimal plan" for the "most likely" future (Haasnoot et al., 2013). In arid and semi-arid zones in particular, including the CA region (Abdullaev et al., 2019), the focus was on water supply planning and management using extensive "hard" water infrastructure solutions developed by technocrats and engineers (Serrat-Capdevila et al., 2011; Miro et al., 2021). Such infrastructure solutions, also called a "hydraulic mission" in water resources management, include designing and constructing water supply systems, irrigation networks, dams,

wastewater treatment, and flood control measures. Over decades, due to growing water consumption, negative environmental impacts, and costly maintenance and repair of aging water infrastructure, these water resources management strategies have started transitioning to water demand approaches in addition to water supply strategies (Erfani et al., 2020; Miro et al., 2021). The Integrated Water Resources Management (IWRM) paradigm emerged as a response to the challenges and limitations of traditional sectoral water resources management involving hydraulic engineering solutions. IWRM utilises a holistic approach to ensure equitable management of water resources, highlighting the interconnectedness of multiple sectors, prioritising environmental sustainability, and integrating stakeholder engagement in decision-making (Kolkman et al., 2011; Miro et al., 2021; Pahl-Wostl, 2007). This makes the decision-making process even more complex but also more inclusive, adaptive, and participatory, asking for "soft" solutions in allocating water resources and managing conflicting water needs.

Decision-making in water resources management consists of several phases: defining water problem and the objectives of water resources management (ensuring water availability, improving water quality, preserving aquatic ecosystems, etc.), gathering data and assessing available water resources (surface water, groundwater, precipitation patterns, climate change predictions), and formulating policy solutions and mitigation of potential impacts (Haasnoot et al., 2013; Hipel & Ben-Haim, 1999). Various decision-support tools, simulations and hydrological models, such as multicriteria decision analysis, multiobjective programming, robust decision-making models, cost-benefit analysis, and many more (Cunha, 2023; Miro et al., 2021; Serrat-Capdevila et al., 2011), can be applied depending on data availability and relevant knowledge. There are numerous constraints, uncertainties, and specific assumptions which can impact different stages of the decision-making process. There are also differences between decisions under risk, decisions under ignorance, and decisions made under uncertainty. The probability of possible outcomes is known in a decision under risk, while in decisions under ignorance, there is a lack of or limited information about possible outcomes and their probabilities (Erfani et al., 2020; Peterson, 2009). Decisions under uncertainty take place under unknown or ambiguous probabilities of possible outcomes because of limited historical data, poor understanding of complex systems and consequently limited information, unpredictable events, and/ or limitations in expertise in assessing probabilities (Hipel & Ben-Haim, 1999; Thunnissen, 2003). A decision under ignorance can be transformed into a decision under risk by gathering additional information about possible alternatives and assessing possible outcomes.

Various sources and effects of uncertainties are present in water resources management, including data inadequacy, inherent complex systems, and unpredictable factors (Ajami et al., 2008; Cunha, 2023; Erfani et al., 2020; Hipel & Ben-Haim, 1999; Miro et al., 2021). For example, Miro et al. (2021) grouped uncertainties in water resources management into climate and hydrological uncertainties related to change and variability in precipitation, changes in temperature, socio-economic uncertainties associated with population growth and per capita water use, and technological uncertainties related to water infrastructure and technological developments. Another approach to categorizing uncertainties in decision-making for water management is differentiating between uncertainties related to water demand and those related to water supply. Water demand uncertainties arise from challenges in accurately predicting changes to water requirements due to population growth, economic development, and/or varying needs across residential, agricultural, and industrial sectors (Basupi & Kapelan, 2015). Conversely, uncertainties in water supply stem from limited historical data regarding surface water, groundwater availability, precipitation patterns, water levels in aquatic ecosystems, water supply infrastructure, and other factors (Chung et al., 2009).

Uncertainties related to decision-making in water management can be further classified into endogenous and exogenous uncertainties (Kreye et al., 2011). Exogenous uncertainties in water resources management refer to external factors influencing decision-making processes. These uncertainties encompass a range of factors, including the impacts of climate change, socioeconomic developments, economic fluctuations, political situations, and technological advancements (Ajami et al., 2008; Cunha, 2023; Erfani et al., 2020; Haasnoot et al., 2013). In the context of transboundary rivers, downstream riparian countries have an additional layer of uncertainty due to socio-economic developments, transboundary agreements, and the political situation in upstream countries. In the context of the CA region, it is crucial to explore how CA countries set priorities among competing water needs under climate change variability. Despite various climate change estimations on glaciers, snow, and river flow, uncertainties persist regarding surface hydrology, seasonality of river flow, and water availability in CA (Gafurov et al., 2019; Gerlitz et al., 2020; Xenarios et al., 2020).

On the other hand, endogenous uncertainties in water resources management pertain to uncertainties that originate from the decision-making system itself. These uncertainties encompass factors such as the availability and analysis of water-related data, the adequacy of water infrastructure, institutional and governance frameworks, and the capacity of individuals to adapt to changes and make informed decisions (Ajami et al., 2008; Erfani et al., 2020; Kreye et al., 2011). Therefore, the capacity of individuals and institutions is crucial in achieving effective decision-making for equitable water resources management, particularly when dealing with uncertainties stemming from limited data on variability and uncertainty of river flow, climate variability, hydrological patterns, drought risks, limited utilization of modelling and scenario planning, and the need to address conflicting interests and diverse water usage requirements in water allocation. Hence, the human-technology-environment system encounters increasing uncertainties and complex challenges (Pahl-Wostl, 2007; Thunnissen, 2003).

Methods

The research objectives of this study are to investigate the sources of endogenous uncertainty in managing water resources and to explore the decision-making process for water allocation under uncertain conditions. The selected case studies for this research are Kazakhstan and the Kyrgyz Republic, which represent countries located downstream and upstream respectively in the CA region. The research design of this study incorporates qualitative methods, specifically content and narrative analysis of interviews, academic literature, and policy reports. Using interviews as a data collection method was chosen to obtain in-depth data and contextual understanding. The interviews were conducted in semi-structured and unstructured formats tailored to the participants' experiences. Interview participants were selected through purposive and snowball sampling considering relevant work experience, occupation, and availability for participation. All interviews were transcribed, coded (INT01, INT02...), and analysed with the NVivo qualitative data analysis tool.

The data for this research was collected through two interview phases. In the first phase, decisionmakers at national and local levels were interviewed to examine the decision-making process for water allocation under uncertain conditions, identify sources of uncertainties, and identify challenges that hinder effective decision-making in the water sector. In Kazakhstan, interviews were conducted with representatives from the Ministry of Ecology, Geology, and Natural Resources; the Ministry of Foreign Affairs; the Scientific-Information Center of the Interstate Commission for Water Coordination of Central Asia; and the Kazvodkhoz in the Almaty and Akmola regions. In the case of the Kyrgyz Republic, interviews were conducted with representatives from the Water Resources Service of the Ministry of Agriculture, State Inspection on Ecological and Technical Security, the Institute of Water Issues and Hydro Energy, and international water projects. The interviews aimed to address the following questions:

- How do you allocate water resources among various users as the demand for water increases?
- How do you prioritize the needs of different water users?
- What factors contribute to inherent uncertainties in the decision-making process and water resources management?
- *How do you navigate decision-making and the management of water resources when faced with uncertain conditions?*

Additionally, interviews were conducted with representatives from universities in Kazakhstan and the Kyrgyz Republic to examine the current status of capacity development among water professionals. Many interview participants emphasized the significance of human resources and capacity building in the water sector. The universities with water-related programs included in the interviews were the American University of Central Asia, Kyrgyz National Agrarian University, Kyrgyz Russian Slavic University in the Kyrgyz Republic, and German-Kazakh University, Eurasian National University, and Korkyt Ata Kyzylorda University in Kazakhstan. Furthermore, representatives from regional and international organizations providing capacity-building activities in water resources management were also interviewed. These interviews aimed to address the following questions:

- What are the current trends in implementing water resources programs at your university?
- What are the main motivations for students enrolling in water resources programs?

- What approaches and strategies are being implemented at the university, national, or regional levels to enhance capacity building?

Between July and October 2022, twenty semi-structured and unstructured interviews were conducted in Russian, Kazakh, and English. These interviews took place both in-person and online. However, it is important to acknowledge certain limitations associated with the interview data collection process, including participants' inherent biases, the author's sampling bias, and the limited number of interview participants. Thus, academic literature and policy reports were also reviewed to validate findings and provide additional support and justification for the results.

Results and Discussion

Prioritization of water needs among different users

Interview participants mentioned the principles of prioritizing water needs among different water users in the relevant Water Codes in both states. Predefined plans and schemes for high and dry water years are used by decision-makers (INT03, INT09, INT10). In Kazakhstan, according to the Water Code (2003), water use limits are set according to the basin schemes and regulated by the basin inspectorates. All water users submit requests for water use, and water allocation depends on forecasts for the water year. Article 82 of the Water Code (2003) states that in dry years water use limits and water allocation prioritizations are the following (in descending priority): drinking water supply, environmental releases, industrial enterprises (designed for guaranteed supply in dry years), irrigated agriculture, and estuary irrigation. Moreover, in dry seasons, water use limits are also reduced proportionally among water users to satisfy basic water needs for water users (INT04). In the case of the Kyrgyz Republic, water uses are prioritized in the following order (in descending priority): drinking water supply, irrigated agriculture and livestock, hydropower generation, industry, fishery, and others (Article 24, Water Code 2005). In dry water seasons, the Government can impose restrictions on water use and change water allocation by prioritizing regions prone to droughts and water shortage (Article 74, Water Code 2005). Most schemes/plans on water resource use and protection are outdated and do not consider additional pressures on water resources, such as the impacts of climate change, population growth, and the increase of irrigated areas (INT06). The interviews indicated that both countries have inherited a topdown, centralized approach to water policymaking, prioritizing the provision of drinking water supply. However, Kazakhstan places greater emphasis on environmental water needs, while Kyrgyzstan gives higher priority to agricultural and hydropower development.

Sources of endogenous uncertainties in water decision-making

Challenges in data availability and access

Decision-making for efficient and equitable water allocation depends highly on data availability and analysis. In Kazakhstan, Kazhydromet conducts environmental, meteorological, and hydrological monitoring. According to Kazhydromet (2022), 377 hydrological posts provide hydrological data.

As was mentioned by interview participants, Kazhydromet's hydrological predictions are short-term with high variability (INT03, INT05). Moreover, there is limited data glacier changes, snow cover, and mountain rivers (INT05). KyrgyzHydromet conducts systematic metrological, hydrological, and agrometeorological monitoring and forecasting in the Kyrgyz Republic. The hydrological measurement network comprises 79 hydrological posts conducting water level, water flow, water quality, and water temperature measurements (KyrgyzHydromet, 2022). The scarcity of hydrometeorological data in mountainous catchments causes uncertainties about the water cycle and constraints on water resource allocation and management not only in upstream but also downstream countries in CA (Gerlitz et al., 2020). The number of hydrological posts in CA has fallen dramatically since the 1990s because of limited public funding (INT07). The challenge is not only data availability but also access to data because of data protection laws in CA (Gafurov et al., 2019; Gerlitz et al., 2020). Another challenge related to water data is fragmentation of data sources: surface water data is collected by Kazhydromet, drinking water quality at sanitary and epidemiological stations, and groundwater data from hydrogeological expeditions (Assubayeva, 2022; Gerlitz et al., 2020). Consequently, limited and fragmented data and poor hydrological forecasting hinder informed decision-making for sustainable water resources management needed to meet environmental, social, and economic needs.

Outdated water infrastructure

Decision-making on water allocation also depends on water supply infrastructure and whether water users receive water limits. In the context of CA in particular, large-scale water infrastructure was constructed in the 1960s-1980s, driven by the hydraulic mission. In the early 1990s, water infrastructure faced high budget deficits and, at present, high operation and maintenance costs (INT19). Aging irrigation infrastructure causes high losses and inefficient water allocation (INT03, INT06, INT14). Even though agriculture contributes to only 5.1% of GDP and 15% of total employment, annual freshwater withdrawal for agriculture constitutes over 60% of the total freshwater withdrawal in Kazakhstan (World Bank, 2022). Irrigated agriculture, with a total area of 1.6 million hectares (ha), is the main water consumer, with the potential increase of irrigated agriculture to 2.2 million ha by 2025 (Brekeshev, 2021). The total irrigated area with regular irrigation had previously decreased by 40%, from 2.3 million ha in 1991 to 1.4 million ha in 2014 (Kazvodkhoz, 2022). Furthermore, the total area with estuary irrigation was reduced by 74% from 870.36 thousand ha in 1991 to 229.44 thousand ha in 2014 (Kazvodkhoz, 2022). One of the reasons for reduction in irrigated land was the deterioration of irrigation and drainage systems, ownerless irrigation infrastructure, and limited public funding for the operation and maintenance of irrigation infrastructure. Indicatively, water losses in irrigation systems have reached about 40% (Tokayev, 2020), while on average, 60% of water supply infrastructure is outdated and needs modernization (EBRD, 2018).

In the case of the Kyrgyz Republic, agriculture contributes about 15% of the GDP, 19% of countrywide employment, and annual freshwater withdrawal of over 90% of the total freshwater withdrawal (World Bank, 2022). Moreover, there is a high dependency on electricity production from hydroelectric sources in the Kyrgyz Republic, at around 85%. Hence, in the case of the Kyrgyz Republic, not only is agricultural irrigation infrastructure critical for efficient water allocation and use, but also hydropower facilities. Due to infrastructure decay, water losses vary from 25% to 40% (NISI, 2022). About 70% of irrigation infrastructure restoration and rehabilitation (Abdullaev & Akhmedov, 2022). In addition to the deteriorated water infrastructure, there are plans to increase the irrigated areas in both countries and develop hydropower generation in the Kyrgyz Republic, requiring additional funding, proper planning, and effective water distribution mechanisms. Water infrastructure is crucial for achieving water security by providing clean and safe water, minimizing losses in the water distribution system, and building resilience to climate shocks (Abdullaev & Akhmedov, 2022; Briscoe, 2009; EBRD, 2018). Hence, outdated water infrastructure, limited information about the current state of water infrastructure, and chronic underfunding cause additional pressure and uncertainty in water decision-making, including in strategic planning, effective policy implementation, and resilience to water-related hazards.

Weak decision-making capacity

Effective decision-making in water distribution and management depends highly on capacity. The OECD (2008) defines capacity as "the ability of people, organizations, and societies as a whole to manage their affairs successfully" (p. 244). Regulations on water resources management, policy, the institutional landscape, structural factors, and informalities shape the decision-making process. The enabling environment of water governance in CA was affected by the shift in water resources management in the region from an interconnected water-energy exchange system to conflicting interests in water between riparian republics, changes in the political system from communist to authoritarian and hybrid regimes, and economic reforms from centrally planned to transition economies (Abdolvand et al., 2015; Sehring, 2020). CA countries inherited a centralized, top-down water resources management system organised mainly through extensive engineering infrastructure. This was reflected in an educational system focused on technical hydrological and engineering knowledge. Water policy in water resources management and allocation decisions were made in Moscow, with the Soviet Socialist Republics responsible only for water policy implementation. Interview participants highlighted the limited capacity of the national institution, the Committee of Water Resources of the Ministry of Ecology, Geology, and Natural Resources, responsible for water policy formulation and water resources management in Kazakhstan due to limited evidence-based decisions (INT01), ad hoc solutions, poor scenario planning and forecasting (INT02, INT19), and limited coordination of water resources aspects (INT05). Despite different organizational structures, CA countries share similar water management challenges: multiple agencies with overlapping functions responsible for water management, limited inter-agency coordination, poor water reform implementation, and weak decision-making capacity at basin and provincial levels (Abdolvand et al., 2015; Abdullaev et al., 2019; Cassara et al., 2019; Wegerich et al., 2015). Effective water policy and management depend on leadership and decision-making capacity. One of the key challenges in the water sector is the lack of succession, continuity, and transfer of knowledge and practice (INT16). In the mid-1990s huge brain drain occurred in the water sector because of financial droughts in the CA region, leaving only aging water specialists from the Soviet engineering school and a young generation of water experts with weak motivation. This has resulted in a knowledge gap and differing value and knowledge systems between the younger and older generations of water experts.

Mismatch of supply and demand of water specialists

Interview participants mentioned the deficit of water experts in both countries. However, the number of graduates with water-related specializations is increasing, especially the number of scholarships and public educational grants in these areas in both countries (INT08, INT10, INT12, INT14). According to Ibatullin et al. (2019), in Kazakhstan, nine universities offer water-related study programs for bachelor's and master's degrees, and in the Kyrgyz Republic, three universities offer water-related bachelor and master's programs, such as water resources and water use, hydrology, melioration, water supply, sanitation, hydraulic engineering, etc. Moreover, both countries' have a wider range of academic programs, such as ecology, environmental management, geography, and fisheries, which also include of water resources-related courses. According to interview participants, almost all students, especially in "water resources and water use," "hydrology," and "hydraulic engineering,"

get scholarships (INT12, INT13, INT15, INT18). Thus, there are graduates and there is a demand for water specialists. Still, there is a demand and supply mismatch in water-related specializations in the labour market in both countries. According to Ibatullin et al. (2019), only one-fifth of Kazakhstan's water-related study program graduates are employed in their field of specialization.

Water-related professions are no longer as attractive for the younger generation as they were during the Soviet times (INT01, INT05, INT12, INT18). Even though the number of scholarships for water-related study programs remains stable or is even growing, the number of applications is declining (INT12, INT14, INT16). In the case of Kazakhstan, applicants pass the United National Testing after graduation from secondary school and, based on their results, apply for scholarships according to subject areas. Students passing geography usually apply for scholarships in economics, tourism, and ecology majors, but scholarship competition for these specialties is usually high. Hence, students with low United National Testing grades often apply for water sector-related specialties in order to get scholarships rather than for reasons of internal motivation and interest in this area (INT16). Furthermore, potential employers complain about graduates' low capacity regarding practical knowledge and skills in water specializations (INT02, INT03, INT07). Indeed, interview participants mentioned poor technical equipment and laboratories, a lack of capacity building for university faculty, outdated curriculums, limited internship opportunities, and other factors (INT14, INT15, INT16, INT17). After graduation, young specialists seek well-paid employment opportunities. However, in the water labour market, the salaries for water engineers and hydrologists remain low despite incremental increases in salaries in recent years (INT15, INT16). In contrast, in the Soviet times, there was a high demand for water engineers and they received beneficial compensation packages because of the extensive engagement in hydraulic missions for cotton cultivation and investment in water supply and sanitation (INT16).

Enhancing regional capacities: examples of initiatives

Capacity development in the water sector in the CA region on different levels (enabling environment, organizational level, individual level) has been on the agenda of international development partners hoping to strengthen transboundary cooperation in the region. Along with infrastructure investment, technical assistance, support for institutional reforms, development of databases and information systems, donor organizations, international projects, and development banks invest in capacity development and water education through long-term and short-term training and programs (Cassara et al., 2019; Dukhovny et al., 2016; Sehring et al., 2019). For example, the regional master program 'Integrated Water Resources Management' at the German-Kazakh University was established in 2011 as part of the "Berlin process" (German Water Initiative for Central Asia). More than 100 graduates from five CA countries and Afghanistan have received scholarships from DAAD, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in Germany, and international projects financed by the US Agency for International Development (Smart Waters, WAVE) and other international organizations (INT12, INT19, INT20). Another example is the European Union Water Initiative to improve the enabling environment and stakeholder cooperation and coordination by creating National Policy Dialogues in CA countries. There are also short-term activities in capacity development such as Blue Peace Central Asia, financed by the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation in the form of the organization of a series of Training for Trainees, and the Central Asia Water and Energy Program of the World Bank which aims to create the Central Asia Knowledge Network as a platform for cross-regional knowledge cooperation in the form of development syllabuses for water programs (INT08, INT12, INT14). According to interview participants, these trainings offer not only new knowledge, models, or methods but also an opportunity for networking, exchange of experiences, and peer learning (INT16, INT17, INT20). However, capacity development and water education activities were criticized for lack of coordination, overlapping agendas, fragmented and short-term activities, and difficulty measuring the impact and outcome of these activities (Abdolvand et al., 2015; Dukhovny et al., 2016; Sehring et al., 2019).

Conclusions

This study aimed to explore how CA countries prioritize competing water needs and identify the sources of endogenous uncertainties in water resource decision-making. Water security is fundamental to achieving sustainable development goals in CA, and effective decision-making is critical in strengthening water security by managing water resources, investing in water infrastructure, responding to water-related disasters, and adapting to climate change. This paper focused on endogenous water resource management uncertainties originating from the decision-making system. The analysis revealed that better data, resilient infrastructure, and improved capacity are key to reducing endogenous uncertainties. However, the region faces challenges such as a decrease in hydrological posts since the 1990s, limited hydrometeorological data in mountainous catchment areas, fragmented water data, and poor hydrological forecasting (Gafurov et al., 2019; Gerlitz et al., 2020). Additionally, the outdated water infrastructure built in the past decades in the region requires significant maintenance and poses risks to water distribution and overall water security (Abdullaev & Akhmedov, 2022). Furthermore, capacity development at different levels is crucial for effective water decision-making. This includes creating an enabling environment for decision-making, ensuring that water organizations are adequately resourced, and investing in capacity building to reduce epistemic uncertainties caused by incomplete information and incomplete knowledge.

While water security prioritizations may vary among CA countries, the challenges in water decisionmaking remain common. This study also acknowledges the potential increase in exogenous uncertainties due to limited transboundary cooperation, the impact of climate change, and growing water needs. Future research should explore factors contributing to exogenous uncertainties in water management and investigate the psychological factors influencing decision-making processes. Additionally, this study did not cover the decision-making process for transboundary water issues, which could be a promising area for future research. Understanding and improving transboundary cooperation would contribute significantly to addressing water security challenges in the region.

In conclusion, achieving water security in CA requires addressing endogenous uncertainties by strengthening infrastructure, enhancing data availability and forecasting capabilities, and investing in capacity development. Future research should continue to assess both endogenous and exogenous uncertainties. By acknowledging the presence of uncertainties and understanding the nature and effects of these uncertainties, CA countries can make more realistic decision and work towards sustainable and resilient water security in the region.

Acknowledgments

I extend my gratitude to the interview participants for sharing their experiences and availability. I also thank the anonymous reviewers and the editor for their valuable comments and suggestions. I acknowledge support from the SDGnexus Network (Grant No. 57526248) funded by the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) from funds of the Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation (BMZ) in the frame of the program "exceed—Hochschulexzellenz in der Entwicklungszusammenarbeit"

to work on the revision of this paper.

References

- Abdolvand, B., Mez, L., Winter, K., Mirsaeedi-Gloßner, S., Schütt, B., Rost, K. T., & Bar, J. (2015). The dimension of water in Central Asia: security concerns and the long road of capacity building. Environmental Earth Sciences, 73, 897-912. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-014-3579-9</u>
- Abdullaev, I. & Akhmedov, Sh. (2022). Financing Infrastructure in Central Asia. Unlocking Private Investment in Sustainable Infrastructure in Asia, Chapter 5. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003228790</u>
- Abdullaev, I., Wegerich, K., & Kazbekov, J. (2019). History of water management in the Aral Sea Basin. In The Aral Sea Basin: Water for Sustainable Development in Central Asia, 8-24. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429436475</u>
- Ajami, N. K., Hornberger, G. M., & Sunding, D. L. (2008). Sustainable water resource management under hydrological uncertainty. Water Resources Research, 44(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2007WR006736</u>
- Albrecht, T. R., & Gerlak, A. K. (2022). Beyond the basin: Water security in transboundary environments. Water Security, 17, 100124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasec.2022.100124</u>
- Assubayeva, A. (2022). Water security assessment in central Asia: Connecting conceptual frameworks and policy perspectives. Nur-Sultan, Kazakhstan: Nazarbayev University. Doctoral dissertation. Available at: <u>https://nur.nu.edu.kz/bitstream/handle/123456789/6591/PHD%20thesis.</u> pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Assubayeva, A., Xenarios, S., Li, A., & Fazli, S. (2022). Assessing water security in Central Asia through a Delphi method and a clustering analysis. Front. Environ. Sci. 10:970633. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2022.970633</u>
- AWDO. (2013). Asian Water Development Outlook 2013: Measuring Water Security in Asia and Pacific. In Asian Development Bank. Asian Development Bank. https://www.adb.org/sites/ default/files/publication/30190/asian-water-development-outlook-2013.pdf
- AWDO. (2016). Asian Water Development Outlook 2016: Highlights and Main Messages. In Asian Development Bank. Asian Development Bank. https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/ publication/189411/awdo-2016.pdf
- AWDO. (2020). Asian Water Development Outlook 2020: Advancing Water Security across Asia and the Pacific. https://doi.org/10.22617/SGP200412-2
- Basupi, I., & Kapelan, Z. (2015). Flexible water distribution system design under future demand uncertainty. Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management, 141(4), 04014067. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)WR.1943-5452.0000416</u>
- Beek, E.V. & Arriens, W.L. (2014). Water security: putting the concept into practice. Global Water Partnership (TEC background papers; No. 20). <u>https://aquadoc.typepad.com/files/gwp_tec20_web.pdf</u>
- Brekeshev, S. (2021). Official Information Source of the Prime Minister of the Republic of Kazakhstan (2021, October 05). Area of irrigated land to be increased to 3 million hectares by 2030 in Kazakhstan. Retrieved from <u>https://primeminister.kz/ru/news/v-kazahstane-do-2030-ploshchad-oroshaemyh-zemel-budet-dovedena-do-3-mln-ga-s-brekeshev-5996</u>
- Briscoe, J. (2009). Water security: why it matters and what to do about it. *Innovations: Technology, Governance, Globalization*, 4(3), 3–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/itgg.2009.4.3.3</u>
- Cassara, M., Beekma, J., de Strasser, L., Anarbekov, O., Murzaeva, M., Giska, S., & Dörre, A. (2019). Local and national institutions and policies governing water resources management. In The Aral

Sea Basin: Water for Sustainable Development in Central Asia, 136-154. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429436475</u>

- Chung, G., Lansey, K., & Bayraksan, G. (2009). Reliable water supply system design under uncertainty. Environmental Modelling & Software, 24(4), 449-462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2008.08.007</u>
- Cook, C., & Bakker, K. (2012). Water security: Debating an emerging paradigm. *Global Environmental Change*, 22(1), 94–102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.10.011</u>
- Cunha, M. (2023). Water and Environmental Systems Management Under Uncertainty: From Scenario Construction to Robust Solutions and Adaptation. Water Resour Manage 37, 2271–2285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11269-023-03429-9</u>
- Dukhovny, V. A., Sokolov, V. I., & Ziganshina, D. R. (2016). The Role of Donors in Addressing Water Problems in Central Asia. Irrigation and Drainage, 65, 79-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ird.1913</u>
- EBRD. (2018). Commercialising the utilities sector in Kazakhstan. Policy paper on infrastructure. Available at: <u>https://www.ebrd.com/documents/municipal-infrastructure/commercialising-the-utilities-sector-in-kazakhstan.pdf?blobnocache=true</u>
- Erfani, T., Pachos, K., & Harou, J. J. (2020). Decision-dependent uncertainty in adaptive real-options water resource planning. Advances in Water Resources, 136, 103490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.advwatres.2019.103490</u>
- Gafurov, A., Yapiyev, V., Ahmed, M., Sagin, J., Torabi Haghighi, A., Akylbekova, A., & Kløve, B. (2019). Groundwater resources. In The Aral Sea Basin: Water for Sustainable Development in Central Asia, 39-51. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429436475</u>
- Gerlitz, L., Vorogushyn, S., & Gafurov, A. (2020). Climate informed seasonal forecast of water availability in Central Asia: State-of-the-art and decision making context. Water Security, 10, 100061. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasec.2020.100061</u>
- Haasnoot, M., Kwakkel, J. H., Walker, W. E., & Ter Maat, J. (2013). Dynamic adaptive policy pathways: A method for crafting robust decisions for a deeply uncertain world. Global environmental change, 23(2), 485-498. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.12.006</u>
- Hipel, K. W. & Ben-Haim, Y. (1999). Decision making in an uncertain world: informationgap modeling in water resources management. IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Part C (Applications and Reviews), vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 506-517, Nov. 1999. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1109/5326.798765</u>
- Ibatullin, S. Kenshimov, A., Shotanov, S., Malibekov, A., Nurmaganbetov, D., Bulekbaeva, L., Drugaleva, E., Isabekov, T. Fazylov, A. & Madzhidov, T. (2019). Review of Water-Related Academic and Research Capacity in Central Asian Countries. Almaty, Bishkek, Taraz, Dushanbe, Tashkent, January. World Bank. <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/ en/199621582301598583/pdf/Review-of-Water-Related-Academic-and-Research-Capacity-in-Central-Asian-Countries.pdf</u>
- IPCC (2022). Summary for Policymakers [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, M. Tignor, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem (eds.)]. In: Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, B. Rama (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, pp. 3-33. <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/chapter/summary-for-policymakers/</u>
- Kazhydromet. (2022). Information from the website of Kazhydromet. Retrieved from <u>https://www.kazhydromet.kz/ru/</u>
- Kazvodkhoz. (2022). Summary of the restoration of irrigated lands in Kazakhstan in 2017. Retrieved from <u>https://www.qazsu.kz/ru/</u>

- Kolkman, M. J., Kok, M., & Van der Veen, A. (2005). Mental model mapping as a new tool to analyse the use of information in decision-making in integrated water management. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, 30(4-5), 317-332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2005.01.002</u>
- Kreye, M. E., Goh, Y. M., & Newnes, L. B. (2011). Manifestation of uncertainty-A classification. In DS 68-6: Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Engineering Design (ICED 11), Impacting Society through Engineering Design, Vol. 6: Design Information and Knowledge, Lyngby/Copenhagen, Denmark, 15.-19.08. 2011.
- KyrgyzHydromet. (2022). Information from the website of KyrgyzHydromet. Retrieved from <u>http://</u> meteo.kg/?map=2
- Miro, M. E., Groves, D., Tincher, B., Syme, J., Tanverakul, S., & Catt, D. (2021). Adaptive water management in the face of uncertainty: Integrating machine learning, groundwater modeling and robust decision making. Climate Risk Management, 34, 100383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. crm.2021.100383</u>
- NISI. (2022). Water resources in the Kyrgyz Republic. National Institute for Strategic Initiatives of the Republic of Kyrgyzstan. <u>http://nisi.kg/blog/101-Vodnyie-riesursy-Kyrghyzskoi-Riespubliki.html</u>
- Octavianti, T. (2020). Rethinking water security: How does flooding fit into the concept? *Environmental Science & Policy*, *106*, 145–156. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2020.01.010</u>
- Octavianti, T., & Staddon, C. (2021). A review of 80 assessment tools measuring water security. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, 8(3), e1516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1516</u>
- OECD. (2008), The Challenge of Capacity Development: Working Towards Good Practice. OECD Journal on Development, vol. 8/3, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/journal_dev-v8-art40-en</u>.
- OECD. (2013). Water Security for Better Lives (OECD Studi). OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264202405-en
- Pahl-Wostl, C. (2007). The implications of complexity for integrated resources management. Environmental modelling & software, 22(5), 561-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2005.12.024</u>
- Peterson, M. (2009). An Introduction to Decision Theory (Cambridge Introductions to Philosophy). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511800917</u>
- Sehring, J. (2020). Unequal distribution: Academic knowledge production on water governance in Central Asia. Water Security, 9, 100057. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> wasec.2019.100057
- Sehring, J., Ziganshina, D.R., Krasznai, M. & Stoffelen, T. (2019). International actors and initiatives for sustainable water management. In The Aral Sea Basin: Water for Sustainable Development in Central Asia, 155-175. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429436475</u>
- Serrat-Capdevila, A., Valdes, J. B., & Gupta, H. V. (2011). Decision Support Systems in Water Resources Planning and Management: Stakeholder Participation and the Sustainable Path to Science-Based Decision Making. In (Ed.), Efficient Decision Support Systems - Practice and Challenges From Current to Future. IntechOpen. <u>https://doi.org/10.5772/16897</u>
- Stucki, V., & Sojamo, S. (2012). Nouns and numbers of the water-energy-security nexus in Central Asia. International Journal of Water Resources Development, 28(3), 399-418. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07900627.2012.684304</u>
- Taka, M., Ahopelto, L., Fallon, A., Heino, M., Kallio, M., Kinnunen, P., ... & Varis, O. (2021). The potential of water security in leveraging Agenda 2030. One Earth, 4(2), 258-268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2021.01.007</u>
- Thunnissen, D. P. (2003). Uncertainty classification for the design and development of complex systems. In 3rd annual predictive methods conference (Vol. 16). CA: Newport Beach.
- Tokayev, K.-J. (2020). President of Kazakhstan Kassym-Jomart Tokayev's State of the Nation Address, September 1, 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.akorda.kz/en/addresses/addresses_of_president/</u> president-of-kazakhstan-kassym-jomart- tokayevs-state-of-the-nation-address-september-1-2020

- UN Security. (2007). Security Council holds first-ever debate on impact of climate change on peace, security, hearing over 50 speakers. https://www.un.org/press/en/2007/sc9000.doc.htm
- UN ESCAP (2013). Water security & the global water agenda : a UN-Water analytical brief. Retrieved from: <u>https://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12870/4206</u>.
- Warmink, J. J., Janssen, J. A. E. B., Booij, M. J., & Krol, M. S. (2010). Identification and classification of uncertainties in the application of environmental models. Environmental modelling & software, 25(12), 1518-1527. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2010.04.011</u>
- Water Code. (2003). Water Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 9 July 2003 No. 481. Retrieved from <u>https://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/K030000481</u>
- Water Code. (2005). Water Code of the Kyrgyz Republic dated 12 January 2005 No.8. Retrieved from http://cbd.minjust.gov.kg/act/view/ru-ru/1605
- Wegerich, K., Van Rooijen, D., Soliev, I., & Mukhamedova, N. (2015). Water security in the Syr Darya basin. Water, 7(9), 4657-4684. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w7094657</u>
- World Bank. (2022). World Development Indicators (2022). Agriculture, forestry, and fishing, value added (% of GDP) Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic- https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ NV.AGR.TOTL.ZS?locations=KZ-KG; Employment in agriculture (% of total employment) (modeled ILO estimate) Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic -https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ SL.AGR.EMPL.ZS?locations=KZ-KG; Annual freshwater withdrawals, agriculture (% of total freshwater withdrawal) Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ER.H2O.FWAG.ZS?locations=KZ
- Xenarios, S., Assubayeva, A., Xie, L., Sehring, J., Amirkhanov, D., Sultanov, A., & Fazli, S. (2020). A bibliometric review of the water security concept in Central Asia. *Environmental Research Letters*, 16(1), 013001. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abc717</u>